

Foreign exchange terms and conditions

General conditions of contract relating to foreign currency transactions and to collection of foreign cheques (Version 4: 10 June 2015)



Table of contents

1.	Introduction	3
2.	Interpretation	
3.	Exchange Rate	
4.	Confirmation	
5.	Settlement of Transactions	4
6.	Cancellations, Partial Payments, Early Draw-Downs and Extension of Transaction	5
7.	Dispute Resolutions	5
8.	Recording	6
9.	Interest on Arrears	6
10.	Breach	6
11.	Certification of Indebtedness	8
12.	Authorised Persons	8
13.	Warranties	8
14.	Collection of Foreign Cheques	g
15.	Indemnity	g
16.	Notices	10
17.	General	10
18.	Law to Apply	10
19.	Jurisdiction	10



1. Introduction

- 1.1 The terms and conditions set out in this document are those applicable to all Foreign Currency transactions between the Bank and its Clients in respect of which these terms and conditions have been incorporated by reference. These terms and conditions do not cover derivatives, documentary credits or guarantees and are in addition to the terms and conditions covered by the Electronic Products and Services Agreement.
- 1.2 The Bank reserves the right to amend these terms and conditions at any time and such amended terms and conditions will only apply to the Transactions into which they have been incorporated by reference. Any amendments will be published on the Banks website www.rmb.co.za.

2. Interpretation

- 2.1 The headnotes to the clauses are inserted for reference purposes only and shall in no way govern or affect the interpretation hereof.
- 2.2 Unless inconsistent with the context, the expressions set forth below shall bear the following meanings:
 - "Bank" Rand Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand Bank Limited
 - "Business Day" any day on which a transaction may be settled through normal banking channels in the countries in which the principal market for dealing in the currencies which are the subject matter of a Transaction are located
 - "Client" a legal and natural person who has entered into a Transaction with the Bank in respect of which these terms and conditions have been incorporated by reference
 - "Foreign Cheque" a cheque payable in a Foreign Currency
 - "Foreign Currency" the lawful currency of any country other than South Africa
 - "LIBOR" Unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Bank and the Client, LIBOR shall be
 the rate certified by the Bank to represent the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate as published on
 Reuters as being the British Bankers Association Interest Settlement rate
 - "Prime Rate" means the interest rate (percent, per annum, compounded monthly) from time to time published by FirstRand Bank Limited as being its prime overdraft rate, a certified by any manager of that bank, whose appointment and designation need not be proved
 - "Net Asset Value" the excess of a party's assets over its liabilities, as determined from its most recent financial statements: provided that if a party's liabilities exceeds its assets, its net asset value will be deemed to be zero
 - "Rand" the legal currency of South Africa
 - "Trade Date" a date upon which a Transaction is concluded
 - "Transaction" a Foreign Currency transaction concluded between the parties and comprising of a spot, forward or swap transaction, as the case may be
 - "Value Date" the agreed date of settlement of a Transaction (provided that if any such value
 date occurs on a day other than a Business Day then the value date for such Transaction shall be
 the next Business Day) or, in the case of a spot transaction for which no date of value is provided,
 the second Business Day after the Trade Date
- 2.3 Unless inconsistent with the context, an expression which denotes any gender includes the other genders, a natural person includes an artificial person and vice versa and the singular includes the



- plural and vice versa.
- 2.4 References to "writing", "written notice", "written instructions" and the like shall include telefaxes and electronic communications which may be printed, such as telexes and emails.

3. Exchange Rate

Where Foreign Currency is sold by the Client to the Bank, the agreed exchange rate will be settled on the basis of delivery by S.W.I.F.T. or by telegraphic transfer, for the value date. If delivery is in any other form, such as the negotiation of sight or usance bills, the rate will be adjusted on the value date by the Bank by the difference between the Bank's telegraphic transfer rate and the appropriate sight or usance rate.

4. Entering into Transactions, Limit Order Management and Confirmations

- 4.1 Transactions may be concluded between the Bank and the Client telephonically.
- 4.2 In addition to entering into Transactions telephonically, Transactions may be entered into pursuant to the provisions of an Electronic Services Agreement and/or an Electronic Services and Products Agreement between the Bank and the Client. As provided for in terms of the said agreements, and the Operating Manual referred to in the said agreements, the provisions hereof will apply to Transactions entered into in terms of such agreements.
- 4.3 To the extent that the Bank so permits, the Client may utilise the Bank's After Hours Dealing and Limit Order Management Facility set out in Annexure A hereto
- 4.4 Written confirmation of forward exchange contract Transactions will be communicated to the Client by telefax, electronic mail or electronic dealing system. Written confirmations of spot Transactions will be communicated to the Client by telefax, electronic mail or electronic dealing system only on request from the Client.
- 4.5 A confirmation in respect of each Transaction shall be made by the Bank to the Client promptly on the Trade Date, but failure by the Bank to make a confirmation as provided for shall not invalidate the Transaction concerned.
- 4.6 A confirmation which has been provided by the Bank shall constitute prima facie proof of the subject matter of the Transaction concerned unless the Client notifies the Bank in writing (which may be sent by telefax) or by telephone, that it disputes the confirmation, before 16h00 on the Business Day following receipt of such confirmation. Where notification is by telephone, the Client must confirm the telephonic notice, in writing or by telefax within 24 hours of giving the telephonic notice.

5. Settlement of Transactions

5.1 Payments to the Client in terms of a Transaction will be made to the account for the currency concerned specified by the Client in terms of standard settlement instructions provided by the Client to the Bank and accepted by the Bank or if no such instructions have been provided, to the account specified by the Client when the Transaction is entered into, and recorded in the settlement confirmation, or as otherwise agreed. If no account is so specified, and accepted or recorded, and if no other arrangement has been agreed, the Client will be obliged to advise the Bank in writing of the account to which the payment must be made by no later than 2 Business Days prior to the Value



Date, and failure to do so will entitle the Bank:

- 5.1.1 to cancel the Transaction concerned, and any loss arising on such cancellation (as determined by the Bank in accordance with its standard procedures) will be for the account of the Client; or
- 5.1.2 to take whatever action is required to ensure that settlement of the Transaction takes place (but without obligation on the Bank to do so) which will include, but not be limited to, payment of Rand to the Client's principal demand deposit account maintained with the Bank (if any).
- 5.2 Payment of Foreign Currency to the Bank in terms of a Transaction must be made to the Bank's relevant nostro account, depending on the currency concerned.
- 5.3 In the event of the Client not giving timeous valid instructions to the Bank to debit a particular Rand account with amounts due by the Client to the Bank in respect of any Transaction, the Bank will be entitled, but not obliged, to debit any such amounts to the Client's principal demand deposit account maintained with the Bank (if any). The aforegoing shall not prejudice any rights which the Bank may have as a result of the Client's failure to pay amounts due to the Bank.

6. Cancellations, Partial Settlements, Early Draw-Downs and Extension of Transactions

- 6.1 In the event of the Client wanting to:
 - 6.1.1 cancel a Transaction in whole or in part;
 - 6.1.2 effect partial settlement of a Transaction;
 - 6.1.3 make an early drawdown of a Transaction; or
 - 6.1.4 extend the Value Date of a Transaction;

it shall instruct the Bank, at least two Business Days prior to the then existing Value Date or the proposed new earlier Value Date of the Transaction, as the case may be, to effect such variation. Such instructions shall be by electronic dealing system or in writing, by telefax or by telephone. Where the instruction is by telephone, the Client must confirm the telephonic instruction, in writing or by telefax within 24 hours of giving the telephonic instruction.

6.2 Any loss arising on a variation contemplated in 6.1 (as determined by the Bank in accordance with its standard procedures) will be for the account of the Client and will be payable at the time of such variation, or on the originally agreed Value Date for the Transaction, as determined by the Bank.

7. Dispute Resolutions

7.1 If the Client disputes the contents of a confirmation in terms of 4.6 then the parties shall forthwith meet to resolve such dispute and endeavour jointly to agree upon their respective indebtedness to each other thereunder. Where the parties elect to use the provisions of this clause and if, however, they fail to reach agreement thereon by the close of business on the Business Day after receipt by the Bank of the dispute notice under 4.6, the Bank will, unless the parties agree otherwise in writing or by telefax, terminate the disputed Transaction by no later than close of business on the next Business Day (by entering into an equal and opposite transaction at then current rates) and if a loss arises on such termination, debit the Client's account with the amount of such loss. Either party shall be entitled thereafter to refer the dispute for resolution by an arbitrator selected by agreement between the parties or, failing agreement, an impartial arbitrator appointed by the chief executive for the time being of The Banking Council South Africa. Such arbitration shall be held in accordance with



the provisions of the Arbitration Act, 1965, save that it shall be informal and the arbitrator shall have full and free discretion to determine the procedure to be adopted. The decision of the arbitrator in any such arbitration proceedings shall be final and binding on each of the parties, will be carried into effect and may, at the instance of either party, be made an order of court.

7.2 In the event of a dispute which has not been resolved by the Value Date of the Transaction, and the Transaction in respect of which the dispute exists has not been terminated, as contemplated in 7.1, each of the parties shall be obliged to settle the Transaction concerned pending resolution of the dispute pursuant to 7.1 by effecting the payment due as reflected in the confirmation; provided that if either party alleges that no Transaction was entered into at all, then neither party shall be obliged to effect payment. Immediately after the giving of a ruling by an arbitrator pursuant to the provisions of 7.1, each of the parties shall be obliged to put the other party in the same position as that in which it would have been in, had the ruling been made on the date of the original Value Date of the Transaction.

8. Recording

- 8.1 It is the Bank's practice to record all telephone conversations with regard to Transactions. The Bank may use the recording of and/or a transcript thereof in any disputes.
- 8.2 Notwithstanding 8.1, the Bank has no obligation to the Client to:
 - 8.2.1 retain its practice of recording telephone conversations;
 - 8.2.2 retain such recordings for any period of time; or
 - 8.2.3 to ensure that its recording equipment is in a working condition and any failure to have a recording for any of the aforementioned reasons (or any other reason) will not give rise to an adverse inference against the Bank.

9. Interest on Arrears

9.1 Interest shall accrue on the outstanding balance from time to time of each Foreign Currency amount or each Rand amount due and payable but unpaid, by any party to the other. The interest rate will be the relevant overnight LIBOR rate, plus 2 percentage points for any Foreign Currency amount and the Prime Rate, plus 2 percentage points for any Rand amount.

10. Breach

10.1 Should:

- 10.1.1 either party fail, for any reason whatsoever, to make payment due by it under any Transaction, within two business days after notice of that non-payment has been given to it by the other party; or
- 10.1.2 either party breach any other provision of a Transaction and fail to remedy such breach within seven days after receipt of a notice from the other party requiring it to do so; or
- 10.1.3 either party be placed under provisional or final sequestration or liquidation or business rescue, or be unable to pay its debts as they fall due, or attempt to compromise with its creditors, or enter into an arrangement, compromise or a composition with or for the benefit of its creditors, or commit an act of insolvency, as defined in the Insolvency Act, 1936; or
- 10.1.4 either party fail to pay any amount(s) due to any other person(s) whomsoever and from whatsoever cause in an amount(s) in aggregate in excess of 3% of the defaulting party's Net



- Asset Value and, as a result of such failure the other person(s) become(s) entitled to demand payment of an amount(s) that was/were otherwise not yet due; or
- 10.1.5 should the Client be in breach of any agreement between it and the Bank, and the Bank becomes entitled to exercise its right to accelerate payments due or claim damages under such other agreement, or to cancel such other agreement as a result of such breach

then, in any of the aforesaid events, the other party shall, without prejudice to any rights which may thereupon be available to it in terms hereof (which include, without limitation, the right to demand specific performance, the right to cancel any or all Transactions and the right to claim damages) and/or any other agreement between the parties or at law, be entitled to stipulate an early termination date with regard to all Transactions then in existence, by written notice to the defaulting party.

- 10.2 Upon the occurrence of an early termination date all then existing Transactions will terminate and the amount payable will be:
 - 10.2.1 The net of the settlement amounts in respect of each terminated Transaction (the settlement amount being the amount determined by the non-defaulting party in good faith on the basis of at least two quotations obtained from financial institutions active in the foreign exchange market in Johannesburg as being the Rand amount that such financial institution would either pay to, or charge, the non-defaulting party to assume the rights and obligations of the defaulting party under the relevant Transaction on the early termination date had the Transaction not terminated). If an amount would be payable by the non-defaulting party to such financial institutions, such amount will be a positive amount and if an amount would be payable to the non-defaulting party by such financial institutions, such amount will be a negative amount; plus
 - 10.2.2 all amounts in respect of terminated Transactions (other than those taken into account in clause 10.2.1) owed by the defaulting party to the non-defaulting party (which, if not denominated in Rand will be converted to Rand at the rate at which the non-defaulting could, in good faith, purchase Rand with the currency concerned); less
 - 10.2.3 all amounts in respect of terminated Transactions (other than those taken into account in clause 10.2.1) owed by the non-defaulting party to the defaulting party (which, if not denominated in Rand will be converted to Rand at the rate at which the non-defaulting could, in good faith, purchase Rand with the currency concerned).
- 10.3 Should the amount determined, on the basis of clause 10.2, be a positive amount, such amount will be payable by the defaulting party to the non-defaulting party and if the amount is a negative amount, the absolute value thereof will be payable by the non-defaulting party to the defaulting party.
- 10.4 The amount determined pursuant to clause 10.3 will be payable as of the early termination date.
- 10.5 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or any other agreement between the parties (whenever entered into), it is agreed that, in the event the Client:
 - 10.5.1 being in breach of the terms of this or any other agreement between the parties; or
 - 10.5.2 being sequestrated or put into liquidation, placed under business rescue or being wound up, whether provisionally or finally or being placed under curatorship

the Bank will not be obliged to pay any amounts or to perform any obligations due to the Client until all amounts owed and all performances due by the Client and any affiliates of the Client to the Bank and its affiliates, have been paid in full or fully performed.



10.6 For purposes of 10.5, affiliate, in relation to a party, means any subsidiary of such party, any holding company of such party or any other subsidiary of such holding company, as those terms are defined in the Companies Act, 2008.

11. Certification of Indebtedness

A certificate signed by any manager of the Bank (whose appointment and designation need not be proved) as to any indebtedness of the Client in terms of any Transaction/s, or as to any other fact, shall be prima facie evidence of the Client's indebtedness to the Bank, or of such other fact, for the purpose of any application or action, judgement or order, or for any other purpose whatsoever.

12. Authorised Persons

- 12.1 If the Client provides to the Bank a list of persons who are authorised to provide instructions, notices, requests or to acknowledge confirmations the Bank reserves the right to rely on such instructions, requests, notices or acknowledgements which the Bank believes are given or made by any person who is or who is believed by the Bank to be a person who is authorised or entitled under the said list to give or make such instructions, notices, requests or confirmations on the Client's behalf, provided that in doing so the Bank acts in good faith. The Bank shall not be required to enquire as to the authority or entitlement of any such person to give such instructions, notices, requests or confirmations.
- 12.2 If the Client does not provide a list of the type contemplated in 12.1 to the Bank, the Bank is entitled to assume that any instruction, notice, request or confirmation (whether in writing or not and however communicated to the Bank) has been properly authorised by the Client if they are given or purported to be given by an individual or person who is or purports to be and is reasonably believed by the Bank to be a director or employee of the Client, or the Client's authorised agent.

13. Warranties

- 13.1 Each Transaction shall be subject to and conditional upon compliance with any relevant law, including, without derogating from the generality of the aforegoing, the South African Exchange Control Regulations, the Protection of Constitutional Democracy against Terrorism and Related Activities Act 33 of 2004, and any rulings, laws, rules, regulations and directives of any competent authority in force at the time of entering into any Transaction or which may come into force thereafter but be applicable to any Transaction already entered into.
- 13.2 The Client warrants to the Bank that each Transaction shall accord with approvals or permissions granted to the Client by the South African Reserve Bank and that the Client shall not be in contravention of any of the rules, laws, regulations or directives referred to in 13.1 in respect of any Transaction.
- 13.3 The Bank warrants that it is an authorised dealer in Foreign Currency as envisaged in the South African Exchange Control Regulations.
- 13.4 In the event of the warranties made by the Client not being and remaining true and correct while any Transaction remains outstanding, the Bank will be entitled to take such action as it considers necessary to ensure that it is in or becomes in compliance with its obligations as an authorised dealer, which will include, but not be limited to, terminating any non-compliant Transactions in accordance with then current exchange control rulings. The aforegoing is without prejudice to any other rights



which the Bank may have as a result of such incorrect warranty being given.

14. Collection of Foreign Cheques

- 14.1 The Client will be entitled to request the Bank to collect Foreign Cheques payable to the Client, which are deposited by the Client in its account.
- 14.2 The Client acknowledges that it is fully aware of all risks associated with the acceptance of a Foreign Cheque and, more specifically, that Foreign Cheques may be returned by drawee banks at any time after the date of deposit, due to any of the following reasons:
 - 14.2.1 forged, fraudulent alteration of the cheque, signature or endorsement or missing endorsement;
 - 14.2.2 any other forged, false, fraudulent or missing information on the back of the cheque, which has been accepted or printed by the collecting bank or any other party; or
 - 14.2.3 any alteration on the back of the cheque.
- 14.3 The Client, with full knowledge of the risks referred to in 14.2, authorises the Bank to collect Foreign Cheques for deposit for the Client's account.
- 14.4 The Client undertakes to indemnify and hold harmless the Bank against all and any damages and losses sustained by the Bank and expenses incurred by the Bank as a result of the Bank carrying out the Client's instruction to collect the Foreign Cheque and the Client hereby waives any claim it may have against the Bank and indemnifies the Bank in respect of any loss or damage, of whatsoever nature, which the Bank may suffer as a result of collecting the Foreign Cheque, as aforesaid.

15. Indemnity

The Client will indemnify the Bank against any losses or damages arising from claims by any third party, and waives any claims which it may have against the Bank from whatsoever cause arising, including but not limited to errors or delays in transmission of communications or payments, misinterpretation of communication on receipt, or failure to identify properly the person or persons mentioned in any communication, unless such loss or damage was caused by the Bank's willful default or negligence.



16. Notices

- 16.1 All notices, demands or communications intended for the Bank shall be made or given to the Bank as follows:
 - Rand Merchant Bank Corporate Banking, a division of FirstRand Bank Limited, 4th Floor, 4 First Place, Bank City, Johannesburg, 2001
- 16.2 The Client will be deemed to have elected either its registered address or its most recent physical address (as well as its most recent telefax number) advised to the Bank, at the option of the Bank, as its address for notices etc. and as its domicilium.
- 16.3 Any party shall be entitled to change its domicilium from time to time, provided that any new domicilium selected by it shall be an address other than a post box number, and any such change shall only be effective upon receipt of notice in writing by the other party of such change.
- 16.4 A notice sent by one party to the other shall be deemed to have been received on the same day, if delivered by hand or sent by telefax and on the fifth day after posting, if sent by prepaid registered post.
- 16.5 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein a written notice or communication actually received by a party shall be an adequate written notice or communication to it notwithstanding that it was not sent to or delivered at its chosen domicilium citandi et executandi.

17. General

- 17.1 These terms and conditions and the confirmations of Transactions into which these terms and conditions are incorporated by reference set out the entire agreement and understanding between the parties in connection with the subject matter. No party shall be bound by any express or implied term, representation, warranty, promise or the like, not recorded herein or in any other document recording the Transaction.
- 17.2 No indulgence which either of the parties ("the grantor") may grant to the other of them ("the grantee") shall constitute a waiver of any of the rights of the grantor, who shall not thereby be precluded from exercising any rights against the grantee which might have arisen in the past or which might arise in the future.
- 17.3 Save as otherwise agreed to and provided for in writing between the parties, no party shall be entitled to cede or assign its rights or obligations in terms of any Transaction to any third party without the consent of the other party.

18. Law to Apply

All Transactions shall be governed and construed in all respects in accordance with the laws of the Republic of South Africa as constituted from time to time.

19. Jurisdiction

Subject to the provisions of 7, the parties consent to the jurisdiction of the South Gauteng High Court of South Africa in respect of any dispute arising from a Transaction.



ANNEXURE A

AFTER HOURS DEALING AND LIMIT ORDER MANAGEMENT

1. Definitions

In this Annexure, the following words and expression have the following meanings and words and expressions defined in the General Terms and Conditions to which this constitutes Annexure A will bear their defined meaning herein:

Term/Abbreviation	Definition
Business Hours	07h30-17h30 Monday to Thursday and
	07h30-17h00 Friday, South African time
After Hours	Hours outside of Business Hours from 00h00 on
	Monday mornings to 23h00 on Friday evenings.
Limit Order	A firm instruction from a Client to the Bank to
	monitor and automatically execute a Transaction
	when the order level is reached taking into
	account the Liquidity available.
Limit Order Stop Loss (SL)	A Limit Order that protects a Client, at a level
	determined by the Client, to prevent the
	negative impact of a currency movement.
Limit Order Take Profit (TP)	A Limit Order, at a level determined by the
	Client, that supports a favourable currency
	movement up to a specified level.
Limit Order One Cancels the Other (OCO)	A Limit Order, consisting of both a SL and a TP,
	the triggering of one will automatically cancel
	the other.
Liquidity	liquidity is the availability of market pricing and
	the depth of pricing available (size of transaction
	at each price level).
Slippage	The difference between the stipulated rate of a
	Limit Order and the rate at which the Limit Order
	is transacted. The Limit Order will be executed at
	prices available given the Liquidity at the time
	until the Limit Order is executed in full.
Proximity Rule	The closest rate (% based) to the current market
	rate that the Bank will accept any Limit Orders.
Fill	The Client's Limit Order has been executed for
	the full amount specified by the Limit Order
	instruction.
FIFO	First In First Out
Dealer Intervention	A function where if a deal fails certain validations
	it is sent to a dealer for further processing.
Front End System	A system made available by the Bank to the
	Client for After Hours dealing and Limit Order
	management

2. After Hours Dealing



- 2.1. The Bank will at is sole discretion make After Hours dealing available, subject to the following provisions of this clause.
- 2.2. Should market pricing at any point in time not be available, the Bank will not make prices. The Bank is not responsible for any market event and/or system failure that causes rates not to be available nor will the Bank be responsible should a Client not be able to book a Transaction at a desired level for any reason.
- 2.3. Only USD/ZAR and G10 currency pairs and crosses thereon will be available After Hours. The Bank may however make other currency pairs available from time to time with or without prior notification.
- 2.4. Only spot Foreign Currency Transactions and Limit Orders for spot Foreign Currency Transactions will be available After Hours. The Bank may however make other products available from time to time with or without prior notification.
- 2.5. Dealer Intervention and product support will not be available After-Hours.

3. **Limit Order** Management

- 3.1. The Bank will at is sole discretion make Limit Order management available After Hours, subject to the following provisions of this clause.
- 3.2. The Bank assumes responsibility once a Limit Order has been **accepted**, either telephonically or via the Front End System.
- 3.3. The Client will be notified once its Limit Order has been accepted by the Bank via the Front End System;
- 3.4. A Limit Order that is within the Proximity Rule set will not be accepted. The Bank reserves the right to adjust the Proximity Rule levels at its sole discretion and without prior notification.
- 3.5. The Bank does not have any obligation to review Limit Orders that are placed via the Front End System by the Client.
- 3.6. During a system breakdown;
- 3.6.1. All Limit Orders will be monitored as per status prior to any system breakdown;
- 3.6.2. The Bank will make commercially reasonable efforts to restore functionality to the system;
- 3.6.3. The Bank will not take responsibility for any Limit Orders that it cannot accept due to any system breakdown and / or any other event; and
- 3.6.4. The Bank will use commercially reasonable efforts to facilitate dealing and Limit Order management telephonically during Business Hours
- 3.7. The maximum Limit Order size is the normal dealing limit as agreed with the Client
- 3.8. Priority of Filling:
- 3.8.1. When multiple Limit Orders are booked at the same level, the sequence in which they get Filled is dependent on the time at which they were booked (on a FIFO basis) and if a limit Order is cancelled and rebooked, the rebooking date applies in determining its ranking for purposes of applying the FIFO rule.
- 3.8.2. Should there not be sufficient Liquidity at any specific level Slippage may occur.
- 3.8.3. The Client will at all times bear the risk of any Slippage due to a lack of Liquidity or for any other reason
- 3.9. Limit Orders can be cancelled at any time but amendments can only take place during Business Hours and are amended via Dealer Intervention.